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Cuyahoga Metropolltan Housing Authority
1441 West 25th Street
Cleveland, Chic 44113

Dear S$1r/Madam:

Re:; Irishtown Bend Archaecloglical District, Cleveland, Cuyahoga
County, Ohlo

This 1s to inform you that the !rishtown Bend Archaecliogical District
nomination listed above has been entered Into the National Reglster of
Historic Places by the National Park Service, Department of the Interior {(NR
I Tetad NR/25/700)0
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The nominatlon was made In connection with a state plan +o identify and
document prehistoric and historic places in Chlo which quallfy for National
Reglster status under provisions of the Mational Historic Preservation Act of
1966 as amended. All nominatlions are approved by the Ohio Historlic Site
Preservation Advisory Board.
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Sincerely,

State Historic Preservation Offlcer
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Enclosure

x.c. Jeff Brown, Regional Coordinator
Mayor Michae!| White of Cleveland
Alfred M. Lee, Cleveland Museum of Natural History
Robert Kelser, Cleveland Landmarks
Eric Johannesen, Western Reserve Historical Soclety
NOACA
S5tate Senator Michael White
State Representative Jane L. Campbel |
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1. Name of Property

historic name  Lri1shtown Bend Archaeological DUistrict

other names/site number N/a

2. Location
street & number Bounded by Riverbed, Russia, Franklin and Columbus Rd. N/ Aot for publication
city, town Cleveland vicinity
state - Ohio code OH-- county Cuvahoaa code 35 2ip code 44113
3. Classlification
Ownership of Proparty Category of Property Number of Rasources within Property
[ ] private [ ] buitding(s) Contributing Noncontribuling
K] pubtic-tocal (R district 1 buildings
[] public-State [~ site 76 4  sites
[ public-Federal {_1structure , : " Strtctures

] object objects

76 5 Total
Name of relaled multiple property listing: Number of contributing resources previously
N/A ' listed in the National Register

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify that this
minalion [:lrequest for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
Mational Register of Historic Places and meets the procedyral and professional reuirements sel forth in 36 CFRA Part 60.
In my opinion, the property eets [ does not rre_eg 1hmnal RagiéiaL;iﬂeria. [see mminuatflq'ldjr}eel PPN
RN ot P RITEIAY
Signature of certitying official z C ‘ Dat&\"' / )

State or Fegeral agency and bureau
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5. National Park Service Certification

I, hereby, certify that this proparty is:

[Jentered in the National Register.
D Ses continuation sheet.

[ determined efigibie for the National

Register. D See continvation sheet.
[ Jdelermined net eligible for the
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Nauunial

[ Jremoved from the Nationa Reqgister.
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Signature ¢f the Keeper Date of Action



&. Function or Use

Historic Functions (enter categories fram instructions)
Domestic - single dwelling

Commerce/Trade - soecialty store

Current Functions (enter categaories from instructions)
vacant /ot in Use

Transportation - road-velated

7. Description

Architectural Classification

Materials (enter categories from instructions)

{enter categaries trom instructions)

toundation N/A

N%ZAA walls N/A
N/A roof N/A
other N/A

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

During the second half of the 19th century, Irishtown Bend was perceived by
Clevelanders as a distinct residential neighborhood within the city, and as a component
of the larger ethnic Irish community on the city's near west side. From the initial
development of the area during the 1850s as a residential neighborhood of unskilled
immigrant Irish laborers, through the 1880s, the district's residents were predominantiy
first-generation Irish immigrants and their families. During the following two decades,
the Irish residents were replaced by new immigrant families, mainly Hungarian in origin.
By 1900, more than 50% of the district's residents were Eastern European, although land
ownership continued to be dominated by Irish families. Through the first three decades
of the 20th century, Irishtown Bend was gradually abandoned. By 1910, more than a third
of the original residences had been demolished, and many more stood vacant. Ian 1987
only twelve residential structures remained in the district, many of which appear to
have stood vacant. By 1952 only five of the original eighty developed lots still contained
houses, and all of these were vacant. A concrete block garage, built on four of the
original lots between 1952 and 1954, is the only new construction to have occurred
within the district since the 19th century. The lots containing this non-contributing
structure is shown an the Sketch Map. The remaining seventy-six contiguous properties
have remained substantially undisturbed since demolition of the 19th century residencies
they once contained. During 1959 and 1960 the properties within the district were
purchased by the Cuyahoga Metropolitan Housing Authority, but were not used for the
construction of housing. With the exception of the garage, currently used for the storage
of OMHA maintenance vehicles, they have remained vacant to the present day.

The eastern, southern and western boundaries of the Irishtown Bend Archaeological
District correspond to the property/street boundaries that defined the neighborhood
during the 19th century. To the east, Riverbed Road {formerly West River Road}, the
adjacent Cuyahoga River, Erie Railroad coal docks and the spur trackage that served them,
served as an effective boundary. To the south, Columbus Road marked a division between
the residences of Irishtown Bend and the industries of the Scranton Road peninsula.
west of Franklin Avenue, the western boundary of the district, the residental community
that developed during the 19th century was not so strongly dominated by ethnic Irish
settiement. Written and oral histories are ambiguous as to whether the area west of
Franklin was considered a part of Irishtown Bend. Further, this area has been extensively
disturbed by the construction of CMHA housing during the early 1960s. Irishtown Bend
certainly continued north of the line of now abandoned Russia Street, chosen as the
northern boundary of the archaeological district. However, construction of a Jarge
warehouse terminal north of Russia Street, shortly after 1900, included the excavation
of deep basements with heavy masonry foundations. Such construction would have resulted
in extensive disturbance of the nineteenth century residential sites that once existed

mSae continuation shaet
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north of Russia Street. While isolated residential properties
north of Russia Street may retain depositional integrity, the
boundary was drawn to include only the area where integrity of

location and historic association is unambiguous.

The environment characterizing Irishtown Bend during the
19th century was dominated by the Cuyahoga River and the low,
swampy terrain encountered in the floodplain of the river. As
the Village of Cleaveland (the original spelling) developed
during the 1820s and 1830s as a major lake shipping port, the
Cuyahoga River floodplain, known as the Flats, came to be
dominated by dock facilities for ship-to-shore freight transfer.
The poorly drained land was largely avoided as a place of
residence, malaria being guite common until drainage was improved
during the late 1830s. With the dramatic increase in shipping
through the port of Cleveland during the 1840s and 1850s, the
Flats continued to foster communicable diseases, such as cholera.
As a result, the district provided cheap land for residential
development, within walking distance of a rapidly growing number
of jobs for unskilled dockworkers, at the same time that ethnic
Irish laborers were entering the city in expanding numbers.

Today, the steeply sloping valley wall of the Cuyahoga River
that was once the thriving residential neighborhood known as
Irishtown Bend is abandoned and overgrown with dense vegetation.
None of the nineteenth century residential structures remain
standing. At a rough estimate, more than 75% of the vegetation
represents escaped cultivars, including fruit and ornamental
trees, Japanese knotweed, raspberries and roses. The remaining
25% of the vegetation is dominated by scar area pioneers that
prefer wet soils, mainly sumac and willow. The loosely
consolidated urban socils that cover the area, and the soft
cuyahoga Shale bedrock, have contributed to the continued
preservation of the 19th century domestic cultural deposits,
making redevelopment, until recently, prohibitively expensive.

The Department of Archaeoclogy at the Cleveland Museum of
Natural History conducted excavations on Irishtown Bend
between June 1987 and May 1989. The district was initially

.
i F i oA o e e A+ Aane Favunrahleo for archaeological
identified as naving <ConalTions raveracie Tor arcpnaeologlcal

preservation during the 1987 testing and evaluation of a
predictive model (Brose and Lee 1985) developed to assess urban
historic site formation processes. The first season’s
investigations were reported in Lee, Wheeler and Brose (1987).
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To provide preliminary evaluation of the predicted depositicnal
integrity, one 1 m? test unit was excavated on each of three
properties, at 479 West River Road, 483 West River Road, and
parcel 69, facing the northern extension of Hurd Street. An
additional 1m? test unit was placed within Franklin Alley,
adjacent to 67 Franklin Street and 471 West River Road, to
examine construction of the alley. In addition, a total of 16
test units, each 1m<2, was excavated on 471 West River Road, the
19th century residence o©f the John Connors family. During the
1988 field season, twe additional properties were extensively
tested; 441 West River Road and 435 West River Road, the 19%th
century residences of the Mary Connley and John Quinn families,
respectively. A total area of 22m?, combining 1m2 test units and
larger contiguous blocks, was excavated in each of these sites.
The locations o©f the properties tested are shown on the
accompanying Sketch Map. All sites within the district are
designated by their 1898 street addresses.

On all six of the sites where +test excavations have
occurred, three stratigraphic levels have Dbeen observed,
representing three distinct episodes in the formation of the
sites.

1. The upper level, ranging from 60cm to 2.3meters in
thickness, represents land use activities that have
occurred on the properties since abandonment and
demolition of the 19th century structures they once

contained. 1In age, this deposit ranges from as early
as about 1910 to the early 1950s, and continues to the
present. Activities responsible for the deposition of

this strata include land grading during demolition on
adjacent properties, overbank waste deposition during
construction of the CMHA housing along the river bluff
edge, unauthorized overbank refuse dumping, downslope
sheet erosion, and possibly squatter occupation of the
district during the 1930s. While this strata is quite
rich in cultural material, none of the artifacts
recovered can be reliably attributed to a specific

contributing activity or cultural phenomenon.

2. The second stratigraphic level below ground surface on
each of the properties averaged 30cm in thickness. It is a



NPE Foim 30-000-1 Tl Aprwcrvnl Mo, 1040018
.

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Irishtown Bend Archaeological District, Cleveland, Ohio, Cuyahoga County

Section number __ Page _> °f 7

secondary deposit, the product of structural demolition on
each individual lot. The cultural materials in this strata,
mainly architectural debris, are representative of
construction methods employed on Irishtown Bend, but cannot
be reliably attributed to a specific structure or household.

3. The third stratigraphic level below ground surface on
each of the properties is an in situ primary deposit arising
from household use of the residential properties during the
second half of the 19th century and the early 20th century.
Truncated structural features, including structural
foundations, privies and refuse pits, have been consistently
encountered in this strata on all six properties that have
been investigated.

Site types within the distriet are predominantly single
family residences, accompanied by eight properties where
residence and small shops were combined.

Parcel 69, Hurd Street Extension Site

A brick, two-story structure, with a small shop on the
ground floor and owner/proprietor’s residence above, occupied
this lot from at least 1884, the date of the earliest available
Sanborn Insurance Map for the area, until a period between 1912
and 1922. A single test unit, 1m?, was excavated on this
property for the purpose of evaluating depositional integrity.
The test unit encountered in situ brick foundations and
associated interior fill. The cultural materials recovered from
the interior f£ill suggest that the structure burned in place with
its contents. No further archival or archaeological

investigations have been conducted on this property.
479 West Rilver Road Site
A 1-1/2 story frame single-family residence occupied

this site from at least 1884 until a period between 1898 and
1912, A single 1m? test unit was excavated on this site for the

purpose of evaluating depositional integrity. The excavation
encountered in situ brick foundations of the residential
structure. No further archival or archaeclogical investigations

have been conducted on this site.
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483 West River Road Site

A single 1m? test unit was excavated on this site for

the purpose of evaluating depositional integrity. The
excavation encountered a waster deposit resulting from the hand-
firing of soft paste brick. Investigations on sites in the

nearby Chioc City area of Cleveland indicate that hand-firing of
soft paste brick was done on the site by the building contractor
during both residential and commercial construction. This
practice remained common through the 1850s, but had been largely
replaced by the purchase of commercially-fired, hard-paste brick
by 1870. No further archival or archaeological investigations
have been conducted on this site.

471 West River Road Site

This site was the residence of John Connors, who
emigrated from Ireland in 1849, from 1852 until his death 1in
1906. The household is recorded in manuscript census records for
1860, 1870, 1880 and 1900. Connors was employed as a laborer on
Cleveland’s docks; as of 1900 he was a full-time employee on the

Erie Railroad coal dock located adjacent to his home across West
River Road. He raised a family of seven children, five of whom

EER = 0 B g e

lived to adult age. In 19200 his widowed eldest daughter was
living in the household with her five children.

A total area of 16m? was excavated on the 24’ by 98¢
property. Features encountered included the wood and later
concrete pilings which comprised the foundations of the
structure, a backyard paving of brick apparently salvaged from a
variety of sources, and an ocutbuilding interpreted as a pigpen.
cultural materials recovered in association with in situ features
included domestic glass and ceramic (both kitchen and table ware
and commodities containers), faunal remains dominated by domestic
pig, and architectural debris. Temporally diagnostic artifacts
from intact deposits range in date of manufacture between 1875
and 1900,
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441 West River Road Site

This site was the residence of Mary Connley from 1872,
when she was widowed, until 1909, when she died. The property
was abandoned, and the 1-1/2 story frame residence was
demolished, by 1912. Mary Connley was 32 when she moved onto the
property from a nearby residence (469 West River Road, where she
had previously lived with her husband Valentine) in 1872 with her
five young children. She appears on the 1880 and 1900 manuscript
census records at this address. Her brother, John, also lived
nearby through this period at 467 West River Road.

A total area of 22m? has been excavated on this 30’ by
98¢ property. In situ features recovered include portions of the
brick foundations of the frame house, a privy dated to about 1500
by temporally diagnostic artifacts, two outbuildings, built on 8
by 8 inch wood pilings, which appear on the 1884 Sanborn
Insurance Map, and an earlier outbuilding in the same location.
The earlier ocutbuilding had heavy dressed sandstone foundations,
a laid brick floor, and was built partially into the side of the

sloping wvalley wall west of the house, The foundations were
intruded upon, and partially demolished, during the construction
of the later wood-piling outbuildings. Cultural materials

recovered from interior infilling date the abandonment of the
structure to about 1875, and the Sanborn Insurance Map clearly
documents its absence by 1884. The structure is interpreted as a
semi-subterranean storage structure, tentatively a root cellar,
which was later replaced by two larger, wooden structures for the
storage of general household items. Large quantities of kitchen
glass and ceramics, architectural debris, furniture parts and
personal items, including buttons, marbles, ball clay smoking
pipes, harmonica parts, and ceramic doll parts have been
recovered from intact primary contexts on this site.

435 West River Road Site

This 1-1/2 story frame structure was the residence of
from 1880 until 1909, when he

(55 1 O

Takhm Mrdnnm a MAlagelanad nalicaman
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died. His widow, Ellen, retained ownership of the property until
1937, when it was inherited by her eldest daughter, Elizabeth,
and the house was demclished. Quinn emigrated from Ireland in

1869, and was originally a mason by trade. He Jjoined the police
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department in 1871, and retired in 1903. He appears as a boarder
in 1870 on a map of the unnumbered "distillery lots"™ situated to
the north of the Irishtown Bend Archaeolcogical District, and is
shown as the scle resident in an adjacent structure in a
pencilled amendment to the same map. The original of this map is
in the possession of the heirs of the former owners of the
"distillery lots." City directories and the 1880 manuscript
census records show that the Quinn family moved to 435 West river
Road in 1880.

A total area of 22m? has been excavated on the 30’ by
987 site. Features recovered from intact primary deposits
include portions of the dressed sandstone foundations of the
frame house, sub-floor debris from two frame outbuildings, and

the foundations for an undocumented wooden staircase that
extended from the rear of the house, up the valley wall to
Franklin &Alley. The foundations for these stairs were based on

large sandstone blocks, matching in size, source material and
dressing style the stone used in the construction of the nearby
Superior Avenue viaduct, which was completed in 1873.
Construction of the stairs would appear to pre-date the Quinn
occupation of the property. A large refuse accumulation, over 4
meters in diameter as ranging from 0.6 to 0.9 meters deep, was
encountered around the foundations for the stairs. Temporally
diagnostic cultural materials date this temporally stratified
accumulation from the mid-1870s to the mid-1920s.

The Irishtown Bend Archaeological District possesses,
directly or indirectly, integrity of location, design, setting,
materials, workmanship, feeling and association. The
archaeclogical remains of a nineteenth century residential
community have been shown, through a combination of a tested
predictive model and subsurface sampling of individual sites
across much of the district, to include in situ structural

features and refuse deposits. Further, these deposits can be
directly associated with documentable households occupying the
properties at any given time, While the structures have been

demolished, and their remains covered over with more recent
debris, archival records and archaeclogical evidence together
preserve substantial data regarding architectural design and
materials, the setting as it existed in the nineteenth century,
and the material reflections of daily life in this community of
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ethnic Irish, and later central European, laborers’ neighborhood.
Though district boundaries were drawn to define an area of
archaeological preservation, they also encompass an area that was

perceived as a distinct neighborhood at the time of its
occupation.
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FHOTOGRAPH INFORMATION
JRISHTOWN BEND ARCHAEOLOGICAL DISTRICT

ALL PHOTOGRAPHS

Photographer: Alfred M. Lee
Date: April 19389
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Location of megatlves H
Archives, Department of Archaeology
The Cleveland Museum of Natural History
Wade Oval
Cleveland, OH 44106

Photograph Number 1 Irishtown Bend District, Cleveland, Chio.

View southeast along Riverbed Rocad, showing western end of
diS""”'i""" and non-contribhuting CMHA carvics adaracddo., Near corner of
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service garage marks the former northern corner of 425 West River
Road, one lot east of Russia Street.

Photograph Number 2 Irishtown Bend District, Cleveland, Ohio

View northwest along Riverbed Road, showing location of former
lots 441 and 435 West River Road (near utility pole stands on former
location of 435 West River Road). Non-contributing CMHA service
garage stands in background.

Photograph Number 3 Irishtown Bend District, Cleveland, Ohio

View west along Riverbed Road from the eastern end of the
district. Photographer standing at former location of 505 West River
Road. Third utility pole from the photographer marks the former

location of 471 West River Road.
Photograph Number 4 Irishtown Bend District, Cleveland, OChio

Pancoramic view of Irishtown Bend District, eastern end, look%ng
south from the east bank of the Cuyahoga River. Cleveland Union
Terminal /RTA Rapid Transit bridge on left.
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Phptograph Number 5 Irishtown Bend District, Cleveland, Ohio

Panoramic view of Irishtown Bend District, central portion,
looking south from the east bank of the Cuyahoga River. The
alteration in contour of the valley wall, where Franklin Alley used to
run, ls visible to right of center.

Photograph Number 6 Irishtown Bend District, Cleveland, Ohio
Panoramic view of Irishtown Bend District, western end, locking

south from the east bank of the Cuyahoga River. The non-
contributing CMHA service garage is visible at right center.
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State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted above.

The Irishtown Bend archaeological district qualifies for designation as a National
Historic Place under Criterion D, A and C. The area has yielded information, and is
likely to yield additional information, important in history as related to the develop-
ment of Cleveland, Ohio, during the second half of the nineteenth century. The archaeolog-
ical deposits are associated specifically with two major events, or patterns of events in
that developmental history; the process of the enculturation of European immigrant
populations into a major American industrial city, and the nature of daily domestic 1ife
among unskilled laborers in the city's shipping ports and industrial center. To the
extent that archaeclogical data from contemporary properties elsewhere in the city is
available, the sites within the Irishtown Bend Archaeclogical District can be shown to
embody distinctive characteristics of domestic 1ife in Cleveland during the period of
occupation, as well as elements that reflect the unique adaptation of the ethnic,
occupational and economic classes that lived on Irishtown Bend.

When the Irish first arrived in Cleveiand during the late 1820s, they settied near
the mouth of the Cuyahoga River in an area to the north of Irishtown Bend known as
Whiskey Istand. These early Irish immigrants were for the most part employed on the
construction of the Dhio and Erie Canal. Owing to the geographically transient nature
of canal construction, most of the several thousand Irish who came to Cleveland at this
time did not remain in residence. The temporary housing erected for them on Whiskey
Istand did, however, establish the nucleus of the community in the Flats that was known
as Irishtown. During the next twenty years, Irish immigration into Cleveland was quite
modest. Their number increased from approximately 500 in 1826 to 1,024 in 1848. They
worked mainly as unskilled Taborers and dockworkers, and on the excavation of a new channei
and mouth for the Cuyahoga River. Irish residence gradually expanded over Whisky Island,
and across the old channel of the Cuyahoga River to the Main Avenue peninsula, all
within walking distance of the residents' jobs. In the years following the catastrophic
1848 potato famine in Ireiland, the rate of Irish immigration into Cleveland increased
dramaticalliy.. By 1870, they numbered almost 10,000, representing 10% of Cleveland's total
population.

During the 1850s, the community expanded and spread southward from the Main Avenue
peninsula, to inciude the land along the curving west bank of the Cuyahoga River between

[X]See continuation sheat
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Detroit Avenue and Columbus Streets. It was this area that came
to be known as Irishtown Bend. The year 1850 has been selected
as the beginning of the period of significance for the Irishtown
Bend Archaeclogical District. The residents of Irishtown Bend
remained almost entirely ethnic Irish through the mid-1880s, when
eastern Eurcpean immigrants began gradually to replace Irish
residents in the area. As the second generation of Irish
families obtained better-paying work, and as dock work was
increasingly mechanized, they tended to move up out of the Flats
and along the major streets radiating out of Ohio City. By 1900,
nearly half of the neighborhood came from central Europe, mainly
Hungary. By this time, many of the second-generation -Irish still
living in the community were skilled or semi-skilled laborers.
The central Europeans who settled on Irishtown Bend were for the
most part also semi-skilled laborers, and appear to have chosen
their place of first residence on the basis of economic and
occupational, rather than ethnic, similarity.

After the turn-of-the-century, the neighborhood was
gradually abandoned. From 1898, when all 80 properties along
the two streets and the alley were occupied, structures in the
Irishtown Bend district began to be demolished without
replacement before 1912. By this date, nearly one-third of the
lots were vacant, and many more houses appear to have stood
unoccupied. The year 1910 has been selected to end the period of
significance for the Irishtown Bend Archaeclogical District, on
the grounds that the fundamental character of the neighborhood
had substantially changed by then. Cut off by the railrecad
tracks down Riverbend Road and the steep hillside up to Franklin
Avenue, the Irishtown Bend district occupied an unusual location
between developing industry along the river and the more affluent
neighborhood of Ohioc City to the west. Upward mobility and the
institution of strict immigration gquotas during the early 20th
century resulted in depletion of the population with 1little
replacement. Neighborhood construction was almost entirely 1 or
2 story, single family, frame structures. Because of changes in
the location of available Jjobs, better accessibility of public
and private transportation, and the belated introduction of
sanitary facilities in this part of the city, abandonment of the
properties on Irishtown Bend was followed by dilapidation and
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burning with nc new construction, and very little other activity,
to disturb the archeological materials and features deposited
since the middle of the 19th century.

Thus, Irishtown Bend District during the 19th century was an
economically and socially homogeneous ethnic working class
neighborhood. A wealth of historical data derived from federal
censuses, county tax archives, city directories, church records
and oral histories is available for the district. Today, the area
is a "preservation window" in which cultural deposits associated
with the community appear to have been preserved. Evaluative
testing has confirmed the presence of intact cultural deposits
and structural remains.

The Cleveland Museum of Natural History archeclogical
research at Irishtown Bend District has demonstrated the presence
of in situ deposits on every property thus far tested. Three
properties have been investigated in detail: the John Connors
property in 1987, and the Connley and Quinn properties in 1988.
Taken together, these three households reflect some degree of the
variation in economic status and social position among the mid to
late nineteenth century ethnic Irish residents. They range from a
widow with no children (Connley) of working age to a relatively
well-paid Cleveland policeman (Quinn). Jochn Connors stands in
between these two extremes and was selected for investigation as
being in many ways typical of a large number of Irish dock
workers who lived in the neighborhood. The on-going analysis of
the carefully recovered artifacts is already beginning to suggest
ways in which household material culture, building
characteristics and use of open space reflect household social,
economic and ethnic factors. These data and interpretations, to
some extent, compliment and supplement the informaticn available
from written sources, but also, in many striking ways contradict
the impressions of late nineteenth century Irish life as depicted
in contemporary accounts.

Until 1884, Cleveland‘’s insurance maps show lot lines,
structures and other information necessary for obtaining fire
insurance up to the borders of the Irishtown Bend District.
Irishtown is shown as a blank space with the words "Shanties
Beyond this Point." In the 1877 engraving "Panoramic View of
Cleveland, Ohio,”™ only a few hut-like structures are shown.
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Popular accounts of Irish life (designed for use in school
system§) refer to "a tar-paper shack or clapboard lean-to" and
"shanties on the side of hills...on stilts...open-air basements.™

Recent archeological excavation of construction materials
and structural foundations in the Irishtown Bend District
presents a contrasting picture of the physical appearance of the
neighborhood.

At the Connors site, besides support pilings, quantities of
commercially manufactured mortared brick were found which appear
to have formed a cosmetic facade across the front of the "open-
air" basement. Excavations at the Connley site revealed a brick
foundation of a 26f x 26f frame house of 2 stories. Foundation
supports for one of the two frame outbuildings on this site had
been placed down into a much earlier stone structure. That
building appears to have had a semi-subterranean roct cellar with
well~dressed walls of Berea sandstone and a neat dry-laid brick
floor. The Quinn home, a 2-1/2 story frame, was 26 x 26 and
had a sandstone foundation.

These findings are in sharp conflict with the notion of tar-
paper shacks set on stilts with open-air basements. Furthermore,
analysis of oral histories that describe tarpaper shacks with
dirt floors points to recollecticons referring to the early 1930's
and the "Hooverville" communities erected on vacant lots in many
parts of Cleveland, including the Irishtown Bend District. By
this time, the majority of structures that had housed Irish
families had been demolished. In the few 19th century photographs
of the area and the structural foundations and construction
materials found through the archeclogical excavations, one can
persuasively argue that these "shanties" would have been called
frame houses if built in another location and not occupied by the
Irish.

In their choices of domestic and subsistence animals, in the
varietals chosen for garden plantings, and certainly in the
consumer choices made among the materials that Cleveland’s
economy offered from 1850 to 1910, there were common patterns
among Irishtown residents that contrast with patterns of
behavior among other Cleveland ethnic groups in other Cleveland
neighborhecods. Analysis bearing on the material aspects of
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ethnicity remains to be completed, and will only become ful
interpretable with the accumulation &and analysis
archaeological data from other communities. At an elementary
level, a taste for shamrocks on decorated ceramics is clearly
noted in the residential debris from Irishtown Bend. A clay
pipe style, molded with the Irish national crest and the slogan
"Home Rule", has been cobserved on Irish properties, although, on
the basis of a wvery limited sample, these appear more common
among the more affluent "Lace Curtain Irish" who lived in the
neighborhoods west of the river bluff during the nineteenth
century. Analyses of a larger sample cof artifacts such as these
pipes, as well as ceremonial paraphernalia assoclated with ethnic
socleties, is likely to demonstrate differing levels of political
activity both among ethnic Irish of wvarying social and economic
status and between Irish and other ethnic communities.

ly
of

There were certainly real distinctions in the gquality and
guantity of household cbjects among the differing economic levels
represented by the three properties excavated in Irishtown Bend.
The relative wealth of the Quinn household, as compared to the
Connors and Connley households, 1s especially apparent. The
Quinn family, in the period 1880 to 1900, owned at least one
conplete get of dishes, whereas table ware from the other two
households are all of differing patterns indicating that they
were purchased as individual pieces from open stock (and probably
as discontinued patterns). The Quinn assemblage also contains a
wider variety of what at the time were more expensive decorated
table wares, including one serving piece of imported English

sl o Mhrara 1o bemth mroator riantity and varietv of modaat
MW b bho- LA Lll. AL D 1o RALLL YHiTawsi b Rk at TR TAlitda ¥ QAL b= 1 Sfa FALN LW R B )

luxury items in the Quinn property assemblage, including a
silver plated tankard, glass "crystal" lamp prisms, and woman’s
semi-precious jewelry. Refuse from all three househclds includes
a few items that predate the documented immigration of the family
from Ireland. The quantity and cost of those items brought from
the old country parallels the relative economic status of the
three households soon after their arrival in Cleveland.

Substantial gquantities of animal bone were recovered from

all three properties. While faunal analysis has yet to be
completed, preliminary impressions suggest that the results will
also reflect economic differences. The Connley assemblage is

clearly dominated by wvery inexpensive cuts of pork and beef,
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mainly shank roasts, shin cuts and stew meat. While similar cuts
of meat were common in the Connors house, anatomical
identification of the analyzed bone clearly indicates that John
Connors was raising and butchering his own pigs on the property.
The Quinn faunal assemblage contains a slightly higher proportion
of more expensive cuts of beef and pork, and was the only
property to yield chicken bone. During the nineteenth century,
families of lower economic position generally kept chickens for
egg production or to be sold at market, rather than for home
consumption. Harding’s 1920 campaign slogan "A Chicken in Every
Pot" echoes the former position of this now-cheap poultry as a
relatively high status food. Differences in how  foods were
prepared and served among the three households are also reflected
in the relative frequencies of vessel types. Bowls and soup
plates dominate the Connley assemblage, reflecting the frequency
with which soups and stews comprised the main meal of the day.
There are relatively more plates, and an absolutely wider range
of sizes, in the Connors and Quinn assemblages. only in the
Quinn assemblage do cups and saucers reach a significant number.
Coffee and tea were to an extent luxury items, and their service
was often more a matter of status display than of personal
preference in consumption.

Household composition also had an effect on the material
items used on a property and accumulated in archaeological
deposits. The presence of children at all three of the Irishtown
Bend properties we tested is clearly shown by the large numbers
of marbles, ceramic doll parts, toy dishes and cast lead soldiers
recovered from the deposits. Inexpensive ceramic tobacco pipes
were as common on the Irishtown Bend properties occupied by Quinn
and Connors as they are on most nineteenth century domestic
sites. On the widow Connley’s property, where there was no adult
male in residence, the household deposits dated between 1880 and
1890 contained numerous toys and slate pencils but no tobacco
pipes. But the widow Connley had three growing boys, and she
had two small outbuildings. In the deposits indicating these
sheds were used for storage, tobacco pipes were among the most
common artifacts.

A long term and multi-phased archeoclogy program for
Irishtown Bend District can shed light on many aspects of ethnic,
national and local history for which the records are ambiguous,
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biased and rarely complete. Investigations of the people who used
these artifacts, along with studies in the mnatural and social
sciences are certain to suggest new interpretations of local
technology and gecgraphic change. They may lead to revisions in
the social and economic history of Cleveland.
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